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The number of Directors’ meetings held (including 
meetings of committees of the Board) and number 
of meetings attended by each of the Directors of the 
Company during the financial year are:

A – Eligible to attend (number of meetings held while a Director)             B – Attended 

Karen Birner was appointed Company Secretary of 
the Company in October 2014. Karen holds a 
Bachelor of Commerce degree from Bond 
University and is a member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants Australia, and a Member of  

 

the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 
Karen joined the SurfStitch Group in September 
2014 as the Group Chief Financial Officer and 
continued to hold that position at 30 June 2016.  
Karen is also Company Secretary and/or Director of 
a number of SurfStitch Group subsidiaries.



The relevant interests of each Director in the equity of the Company at the date of this report (unless otherwise 
indicated) are set out in the following table. 

 

Director 

 

Ordinary shares 

 

Loan shares 
Options over 

ordinary shares³ 
Rights over 

ordinary shares 

H McDonald ¹ 1,510,000 - - - 

S Goddard 210,000 - - - 

J Huxley 15,000 - - - 

S Weiss - - - - 

J Cameron ² 9,332,457 400,000 - - 

L Pedersen 9,039,377 400,000 - 280,160 

J Stone 11,425,983 - - 635,231 

M Sonand - - - 1,000,000 

The Company has entered into Deeds of Indemnity, 
Access and Insurance with each of the current and 
former Directors.  

The Company, to the extent permitted by law, 
indemnifies its current Directors against all liabilities 
against another person (other than the Company and 
its controlled entities) that may arise from their 
position as directors of the Company and its 
controlled entities, except where the liability arises out 
of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The 
agreement stipulates that the Company will meet the 
full amount of any such liabilities, including costs and 
expenses.  

The Company, to the extent permitted by law, may 
purchase and maintain insurance, or pay, or agree to 
pay, a premium for insurance for each director 
against any liability incurred by that person as an 
officer of the Company or its controlled entities. The 
Company has obtained directors’ and officers’ 
insurance as required under the Deeds of Indemnity, 
Access and Insurance.  

During the year ended 30 June 2016, the Company 
has paid insurance premiums in respect of 
directors’ and officers’ liability and legal expenses’ 
insurance contracts, for current directors and 
officers, including directors and officers of its 
controlled entities.  

The insurance premiums relate to:  

 

 



During FY16, entities within SurfStitch Group entered 
into a series of agreements with Coastalwatch Pty Ltd 
(“Coastalwatch”), Three Crowns Investments Pty Ltd 
(“TCI”) and Coastalcoms Pty Ltd (“Coastalcoms”) 
(the “3CM Transaction”).   

In 1H FY16: 

• the content of SurfStitch Group’s media assets 
was licensed to Coastalwatch for a licence fee 
of approximately $20.3 million, receivable by the 
Group in April 2016;  

• TCI gave SurfStitch Group branding rights to 
certain of TCI’s apps for a term of ten years for a 
fee of $2 million, payable in February 2016 by 
SurfStitch Group to TCI, plus TCI acquired rights 
to advertise and distribute its brands on 
SurfStitch Group’s platforms (for 15% of the 
recommended retail price plus additional fees) 
for a period of ten years. 

In 2H FY16: 

• the content licences were varied so that the 
$20.3 million receivable became payable in ten 
equal instalments to be paid annually; and 

• the term of the app branding rights was reduced 
to two years, although not the advertising or 
distribution rights of TCI, plus an additional fee 
for premium content of $0.5 million became 
payable by SurfStitch Group to TCI.  

In addition, two ten year agreements were added to 
the 3CM Transaction whereby: 

• Coastalwatch would provide a link on its website 
to SurfStitch Group’s Australian website for a 
fee of $8 million payable in ten equal 
instalments to be paid annually; and 

• Coastalcoms would give SurfStitch Holdings Pty 
Ltd access to its software, ‘Environmental Data 
Management System’ for a fee of US$9.7 million 
payable in ten equal instalments to be paid 
annually (the “Software Licensing Agreement”).  

In summary, the 3CM Transaction would be paid for 
as follows: 

• at least $20 million would be paid from 
Coastalwatch, TCI and Coastalcoms to 
SurfStitch Group over a period of ten years; and 

• US$9.7 million plus $10.5 million would be paid 
from SurfStitch Group to Coastalwatch, TCI and 
Coastalcoms over a period of ten years. 

 

Since May 2016, SurfStitch Group has been carrying 
out an in-depth review of the 3CM Transaction. The 
findings of this review contributed to the ASX 
Announcement made on 9 June 2016 and the 
termination of the Software Licensing Agreement in 
July 2016. 

Proceedings were commenced by TCI and 
Coastalcoms in August 2016 in the Queensland 
District and Supreme Courts against entities within 
SurfStitch Group in respect of the 3CM Transaction 
and it is possible that further proceedings may be 
commenced. SurfStitch Group entities will vigorously 
defend these proceedings. The aggregate potential 
liability and costs in respect of the proceedings 
cannot be accurately assessed at this time. 

Contingencies in respect of legal proceeding are 
disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements.  

During the year KPMG, the Group’s auditor, has 
performed certain other services in addition to the 
audit and review of the financial statements.  

The Board has considered the non-audit services 
provided during the year by the auditor, and, in 
accordance with written advice provided by 
resolution of the Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee, is satisfied that the provision of those 
non-audit services during the year by the auditor is 
compatible with, and did not compromise, the 
auditor independence requirement of the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for the following 
reasons:  

• all non-audit services are subject to corporate 
governance procedures adopted by the Group 
and have been reviewed by those charged with 
governance throughout the year to ensure they 
do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the 
auditor; and 

• the non-audit services provided do not 
undermine the general principles relating to 
audit independence as set out in the APES 110 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as 
they did not involve reviewing or auditing the 
auditor’s own work, acting in a management or 
decision making capacity for the Group, acting 
as an advocate to the Group or jointly sharing 
the risks and rewards.  

 



Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the 
Group, KPMG, and its network firms for audit and 
non-audit services provided during the year ended 
30 June 2016 are disclosed in note 29 of the 
Financial Report.  

The consolidated loss attributable to the owners of 
the Company for the year ended 30 June 2016 was 
$155.4 million. A review of operations, business 
strategies and financial results of the SurfStitch 
Group for the year ended 30 June 2016 is set out 
on pages 4 to 13 of the Annual Financial Report.  

Information in the OFR is provided to enable 
shareholders to make informed assessment about 
the Company’s strategies and prospects for future 
financial years. Detail that could give rise to likely 
material detriment to the Company (for example, 
information that is commercially sensitive, is 
confidential or could give a third party a commercial 
advantage) has not been included. 

No dividends were paid to members or determined 
by Company with respect to the year ended 30 
June 2016 (2015: nil).  The Board does not intend 
to pay dividends with respect to the year ended 30 
June 2016.  

Other than the developments described in this 
report (including the Operating and Financial 
Review), the Directors are of the opinion that no 
other matters, circumstance or development has 
affected or will significantly affect the operations 
and expected results of the Group in future financial 
years.  

The Remuneration Report is set out on pages 18 to 
33 and forms part of the Directors’ Report for the 
year ended 30 June 2016. 

The Directors recognise the importance of 
environmental and workplace health and safety 
issues.  

The Directors are committed to compliance with all 
relevant laws and regulations to ensure the 
protection of the environment, the community and 
the health and safety of employees. The operations 
of the SurfStitch Group are not subject to any 
particular and significant environmental regulation 
under the laws of the Commonwealth of Australia or 
any of its states or territories.  

Based on the results of enquiries made, the Board 
is not aware of any significant breaches of 
environmental regulations during the period 
covered by this report.  

The lead auditor’s independence declaration is set 
out on page 34 and forms part of the Directors’ 
Report for the year ended 30 June 2016.  

The amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements have been rounded off to the nearest 
thousand dollars in accordance with ASIC 
Corporations Instrument 2016/191.  

This statement is made in accordance with a 
resolution of the Directors.  

 

The Directors’ Report is signed in accordance with 
a resolution of the Directors.  

 

 

 

Samuel Weiss 
Chairman 

 

Sydney 

 

30 August 2016 

 

 

 

 









 

 

 

 

 













 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 





 

 

 

 

 



 





In thousands of dollars
Note

2016 2015
(*restated)

Continuing operations

Revenue 7 237,955             97,857               
Cost of sales (153,860)            (60,531)              

Gross profit 84,095               37,326               

Other income 8 146                    20                      
Selling and distribution expenses 8 (101,268)            (44,683)              
Administrative expenses 8 (49,237)              (7,424)                
Impairment expenses 17 & 18 (88,999)              -                     
IPO costs 8 -                     (6,571)                

Result from operating activities (155,263)            (21,332)              

Finance income 371                    138                    
Finance costs (318)                   (7)                       

Net finance income 53                      131                    

Loss before tax (155,210)            (21,201)              

Income tax benefit 13 495                    3,583                 

Loss from continuing operations (154,715)            (17,618)              

Discontinued operation
Loss from discontinued operation, net of tax 6 (643)                   (33,029)              

Net loss attributable to the owners of SurfStitch Group Limited (155,358)            (50,647)              

Loss per share for the period attributable to the ordinary equity 
holders of the Company:
Basic earnings per share (in dollars) 9 (0.60)                  (0.30)                  
Diluted earnings per share (in dollars) 9 (0.60)                  (0.30)                  

Loss per share for the period attributable to the ordinary equity 
holders of the Company from continuing operations
Basic earnings per share (in dollars) 9 (0.60)                  (0.10)                  
Diluted earnings per share (in dollars) 9 (0.60)                  (0.10)                  



In thousands of dollars

2016 2015
(*restated)

Net loss for the period (155,358)            (50,647)              

Other comprehensive income

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations (427)                   2,943                 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period, net of tax (427)                   2,943                 

Total comprehensive loss for the period attributable to the owners of 
Surfstitch Group Limited

(155,785)            (47,704)              

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated
financial statements

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3. Further
detail is disclosed in note 5.



In thousands of dollars
Note

2016 2015
(*restated)

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 14 21,373               39,731               
Trade and other receivables 15 8,991                 3,086                 
Inventories 16 36,979               43,290               
Current tax assets 24                      3                        
Other assets 4,792                 2,467                 

Total current assets 72,159               88,577               

Non-current assets

Deferred tax assets 13 5,592                 5,809                 
Property, plant and equipment 17 4,405                 3,304                 
Intangible assets 18 8,482                 47,635               
Goodwill 18 6,609                 36,001               

Total non-current assets 25,088               92,749               

Total assets 97,247               181,326             

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 20 37,004               36,281               
Employee benefits 11 2,486                 1,525                 
Income tax provision 725                    1,138                 
Provisions 21 3,350                 2,191                 
Deferred income 812                    648                    

Total current liabilities 44,377               41,783               

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 13 2,902                 5,907                 
Employee benefits 11 293                    180                    
Provisions 21 880                    85                      

Total non-current liabilities 4,075                 6,172                 

Total liabilities 48,452               47,955               

Net assets 48,795               133,371             

Equity

Share capital 19 309,090             248,325             
Reserves (54,290)              (64,307)              
Retained earnings (206,005)            (50,647)              

Total equity 48,795               133,371             

The above consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated
financial statements

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3. Further
detail is disclosed in note 5.  In addition, there is change in classification of assets, further detail of which is disclosed in note 14.



 

In thousands of dollars

Note Share capital
Cost of share 

capital

Share-based 
payments 
reserve

 Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Other equity 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total equity

Balance at 13 October 2014 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the period

Loss for the period -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (50,647)          (50,647)          
Total other comprehensive income for the period -                 -                 -                 2,943             -                 -                 2,943             

Total comprehensive loss for the period -                 -                 -                 2,943             -                 (50,647)          (47,704)          

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity

Issue of ordinary shares, net of transaction costs 19 252,724         (4,399)            -                 -                 -                 -                 248,325         
Common control acquisition 19 -                 -                 -                 -                 (68,640)          -                 (68,640)          
Share-based payments 12 -                 -                 1,390             -                 -                 -                 1,390             

Total transactions with owners recorded directly in equity 252,724         (4,399)            1,390             -                 (68,640)          -                 181,075         

Balance at 30 June 2015 (*restated) 252,724         (4,399)            1,390             2,943             (68,640)          (50,647)          133,371         

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3.  Further detail is disclosed in note 5.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

Attributable to owners of the Company



In thousands of dollars

Note Share capital
Cost of share 

capital

Share-based 
payments 
reserve

 Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Other equity 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total equity

Balance at 1 July 2015 (*restated) 252,724         (4,399)            1,390             2,943             (68,640)          (50,647)          133,371         

Total comprehensive loss for the period

Loss for the period -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (155,358)        (155,358)        
Total other comprehensive loss for the period -                 -                 -                 (427)               -                 -                 (427)               

Total comprehensive loss for the period -                 -                 -                 (427)               -                 (155,358)        (155,785)        

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity

Issue of ordinary shares, net of transaction costs 19 60,698           67                  -                 -                 -                 -                 60,765           
Transfer between reserves -                 -                 2,600             -                 (2,600)            -                 -                 
Share based payments 10 -                 -                 10,444           -                 -                 -                 10,444           

Total transactions with owners recorded directly in equity 60,698           67                  13,044           -                 (2,600)            -                 71,209           

Balance at 30 June 2016 313,422         (4,332)            14,434           2,516             (71,240)          (206,005)        48,795           

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3.  Further detail is disclosed in note 5.

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

Attributable to owners of the Company



In thousands of dollars
Note

2016 2015
(*restated)

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 261,529             117,540             
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (290,715)            (136,485)            
Cash used in operating activities (29,186)              (18,945)              
Interest paid (318)                   (7)                       
Income taxes paid (907)                   -                     

Net cash used in operating activities 28 (30,411)              (18,952)              

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 371                    138                    
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 5 (26,128)              (58,633)              
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (2,856)                (626)                   
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 28                      -                     
Acquisition of intangible assets (8,036)                (2,693)                

Net cash used in investing activities (36,621)              (61,814)              

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of share capital 19 50,000               125,693             
Transaction costs related to issue of share capital 19 (1,537)                (5,186)                

Net cash generated from financing activities 48,463               120,507             

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (18,569)              39,741               

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 39,731               -                     

Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held 211                    (10)                     

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 14 21,373               39,731               

The above consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect a change in classification of asset balances, further detail of which is
disclosed in note 14.



1. Reporting entity 
SurfStitch Group Limited (the “Company”, or “SGL”) is a for-profit company which is incorporated and domiciled in 
Australia. 

These consolidated financial statements (“financial statements”) as at and for the year ended 30 June 2016 comprise 
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”).  The comparative period was from 13 
October 2014 (date of incorporation) to 30 June 2015. 

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 August 2016. 

2. Statement of compliance 
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards (“AASBs”) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”) and the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). The financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”) adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

3. Significant accounting policies 
This section sets out the significant accounting policies upon which the financial statements are prepared as a whole.  
Specific accounting policies are described in their respective notes to the financial statements.  This section also 
shows information on new accounting standards, amendments and interpretations, and whether they are effective in 
the current or later years. 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.  

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations Instrument 2016/191 dated 1 April 2016 and in accordance 
with that Instrument, all financial information presented in Australian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand 
unless otherwise stated. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. 

The accounting policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented in these financial statements, unless 
otherwise stated. 

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation to better reflect 
the economic nature of the financial position and performance of the Group. 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 
on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.  

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated



 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, 
are translated into Australian dollars (AUD) at the exchange rate at the reporting date. The income and expenses of 
foreign operations are translated into AUD at the average exchange rate of the month in which the transaction occurs. 

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign currency 
translation reserve. 

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control, significant influence or joint control 
is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss 
as part of the gain or loss on disposal. If the Group disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but retains control, 
then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interest.  

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of respective GST or VAT, except where the 
amount of GST or VAT incurred is not recoverable from the relevant taxation authority. In these circumstances the 
GST or VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.  

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST or VAT receivable or payable. The net amount 
of GST or VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other payables in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST or VAT components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the relevant taxation authority, are presented as 
operating cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash flows. 

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.   

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised prospectively. 

Significant judgement has been made in respect to the election of common control accounting as opposed to 
accounting for business combinations at fair value at acquisition date.  Further detail is disclosed in note 5. 

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements, including information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties 
that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the year ending 30 June 2016 are included in 
the following notes: 

 

 

 

 



 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)  

 

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities. 

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. 

The financial reporting team regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third party 
information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then the management assesses 
the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements of 
IFRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified. 

Significant valuation issues are reported to the Group Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee. 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data as far as possible. 
Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation 
techniques as follows: 

 

 

 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different levels of the fair 
value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value 
hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement. 

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during 
which the change has occurred. 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning 
after 1 July 2016, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. Those which may be relevant 
to the Group are set out below. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards early.  

AASB 9 Financial Instruments becomes mandatory for the Group’s 2019 financial statements and includes changes 
to the classification and measurement of financial assets, including a new expected credit loss model for calculating 
impairment.  It also includes a new hedge accounting model to simplify hedge accounting requirements and more 
closely align hedge accounting with risk management activities.   



 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)  

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts becomes mandatory for the Group’s 2019 financial statements and outlines a 
single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers; and 
replaces AASB 111 Construction Contracts, AASB 118 Revenue, Interpretation 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes, 
Interpretation 15 Agreements for Construction of Real Estate, Interpretation 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers 
and Interpretation 131 Revenue-Barter Transactions involving Advertising Services.  The core principle is that an 
entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects 
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitles in exchange for those goods or services. 

AASB 16 Leases becomes mandatory for the Group’s 2020 financial statements and removes the classification of 
leases between finance and operating leases, effectively treating all leases as finance leases for the lessee.  The 
purpose is to provide greater transparency of a lessee’s financial leverage and capital employed. 

The Group has not yet determined the potential effect of these standards of the Group’s future financial statements. 

 

4. Operating segments  

As at 30 June 2016, the Group has 5 reportable segments being Asia-Pacific Retail, Europe Retail, North America 
Retail, Media & Production and Surf Hardware. The operations of the Retail Division are managed by geographic 
area and brand.   

Each segment has individual management teams and marketing strategies with information reported to the chief 
operating decision maker (Michael Sonand, Chief Executive Officer) on this basis.  

The inclusion of 5 reportable segments is a change from the 3 reportable segments featured in the prior period 
financial statements and the comparative data has been restated to reflect the current period segments.   

The following summary describes the operations of each reportable segment.  

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

4. Operating segments (continued)  

Information related to each reportable segment is set out in the tables below.  

Gross profit as included in internal managements reports reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, is used to 
measure performance because management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the 
results of the respective segments relative to other entities that operate within the same industry. 

While the Group manages its gross margin at a segment level, overheads are managed at a Group level due to 
shared IT platform management structures, the costs of which are not allocated across segments. 

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3.  Further 
detail is disclosed in note 5. 

(1) This reportable segment includes the operating results of SurfStitch (Europe) Limited (“SurfStitch Europe”) which was discontinued during 
the prior period.  Further detail is disclosed in note 6.  

(2) Impairment expense relates to the write-off of goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment. Further detail is disclosed 
in note 18.

In thousands of dollars Asia-Pacific Europe (1)  North America 

External revenue 83,820           101,023         25,519           5,169             22,424           237,955         
Intersegment revenue -                 3,059             86                  (555)               390                2,980             

Total segment revenue 83,820           104,082         25,605           4,614             22,814           240,935         

Segment gross profit 32,134           36,786           2,529             4,444             8,143             84,036           

Depreciation & amortisation (4,907)            (4,752)            (5,232)            (998)               (273)               (16,162)          

Impairment expense (2) (22,419)          (31,582)          (6,647)            (21,724)          (6,478)            (88,850)          

In thousands of dollars Asia-Pacific Europe (1)  North America 

External revenue 42,476           43,641           15,568           337                -                 102,022         
Intersegment revenue -                 449                -                 -                 -                 449                

Total segment revenue 42,476           44,090           15,568           337                -                 102,471         

Segment gross profit 16,355           11,797           5,894             467                -                 34,513           

Depreciation & amortisation (2,575)            (3,325)            (1,028)            (16)                 -                 (6,944)            

Impairment expense (2) -                 (19,702)          -                 -                 -                 (19,702)          

2015 (*restated)

2016

Retail
Media & 

Production
Surf

 Hardware
Total

Retail
Media & 

Production
Surf

 Hardware
Total



 

4. Operating segments (continued)  

 
* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3.  Further 
detail is disclosed in note 5. 

(1) This reportable segment includes the operating results of SurfStitch (Europe) Limited (“SurfStitch Europe”) which was discontinued during 
the prior period.  Further detail is disclosed in note 6.  

In thousands of dollars Asia-Pacific Europe (1)  North America 

Segment assets 23,599           27,633           6,078             1,529             24,435           83,274           
Segment liabilities (17,199)          (45,856)          (38,551)          (4,688)            (5,725)            (112,019)        

Segment net assets 6,400             (18,223)          (32,473)          (3,159)            18,710           (28,745)          

In thousands of dollars Asia-Pacific Europe (1)  North America 

Segment assets 51,791           70,626           23,410           2,744             -                 148,571         
Segment liabilities (17,300)          (36,701)          (25,829)          (622)               -                 (80,452)          

Segment net assets 34,491           33,925           (2,419)            2,122             -                 68,119           

Media & 
Production

Surf
 Hardware

Total

Media & 
Production

Surf
 Hardware

Total

2016

Retail

2015 (*restated)

Retail



 

4. Operating segments (continued) 

 

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3.  Further 
detail is disclosed in note 5. 

In thousands of dollars
Note

2016 2015
(*restated)

(i)       Revenues
Total revenue for reportable segments 240,935         102,471         

Less revenue eliminated upon consolidation (2,980)            (449)               

Less revenue from discontinued operation 6 -                 (4,165)            

Consolidated revenue from continuing operations 237,955         97,857           

(ii)      Gross profit       
Total gross profit for reportable segments 84,036           34,513           

Less gross loss from discontinued operation 59                  2,813             

Consolidated gross profit from continuing operations 84,095           37,326           

(iii)     Assets
Total assets for reportable segments 83,274           148,571         

Corporate cash assets 9,738             30,520           

Other corporate assets 4,235             2,235             

Consolidated total assets 97,247           181,326         

(iv)      Liabilities
Total liabilities for reportable segments 112,019         80,452           

Less related party payables to corporate entities eliminated upon consolidation (67,013)          (34,014)          

Corporate liabilities 3,446             1,517             

Consolidated total liabilities 48,452           47,955           



 

4. Operating segments (continued) 

In presenting the following geographical information, segment revenue has been based on the geographic location of 
the distribution point and segment assets were based on the geographic location of the assets. 

 

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3.  Further 
detail is disclosed in note 5. 

The Group did not earn more than 10% of its revenue from any one customer in any segment during the financial 
year. 

In thousands of dollars

2016 2015
(*restated)

(i)       Revenues
Australia 94,638           42,603           
All foreign countries
  United States of America 35,422           15,625           
  United Kingdom 102,599         39,629           
  France 5,296             4,165             

Consolidated revenue 237,955         102,022         

(ii)     Non-current assets
Australia 21,125           75,048           
All foreign countries
  United States of America 103                11,307           
  United Kingdom 3,702             6,348             
  France 158                46                  

Consolidated total non-current assets 25,088           92,749           

(iii)     Capital additions
Australia 3,822             6,812             
All foreign countries
  United States of America 1,443             1,464             
  United Kingdom 5,627             5,202             
  France -                 2,812             

Consolidated total capital additions 10,892           16,290           



 

5. Internal restructure and acquisition of subsidiaries 

On 15 December 2014, an internal restructure was executed in preparation for the listing of the Company on the 
Australian Securities Exchange.  This resulted in the Company becoming the legal parent of SurfStitch Holdings Pty 
Limited (“SHPL”) which is the legal parent of all other Group subsidiaries. 

At the time, the Directors elected to account for the restructure as a capital re-organisation rather than a business 
combination, and as such, the Group’s last annual consolidated financial statements were presented as a continuation 
of the pre-existing accounting values of assets and liabilities in SHPL financial statements 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2016, the Group commissioned an independent valuation of the identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in relation to business combinations that occurred shortly prior to the internal 
restructure.  This valuation revealed the net identifiable assets as being valued at higher than the provisional fair value 
and as a result, the goodwill acquired as part of the internal restructure has subsequently decreased. 

The identified adjustments to the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are set out in the 
table below. 

 

The comparative information shown in the financial statements has been restated to include the adjusted fair value 
of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

The profit or loss impact to the comparative period for additional amortisation is a loss of $2,225,000. 

In thousands of dollars
Provisional 

amount
Adjustments

Final 
amount

Brands & trademarks 15                  17,089           17,104           
Website & software 6,660             8,666             15,326           
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 890                (4,070)            (3,180)            
Trade and other payables (23,675)          (150)               (23,825)          
Goodwill 53,716           (22,665)          31,051           
Other equity reserve 67,510           1,130             68,640           



 

5. Internal restructure and acquisition of subsidiaries (continued) 

On 16 December 2014, the Group acquired 100% of the shares and voting interests in Surfdome Shop Limited 
(“Surfdome”). 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2016, the Group commissioned an independent valuation of the identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Surfdome acquisition.  This valuation revealed the net identifiable assets 
as being valued at higher than the provisional fair value and as a result, the goodwill acquired as part of the acquisition 
has subsequently decreased. 

The identified adjustments to the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are set out in the 
table below. 

 

The comparative information shown in the financial statements has been restated to include the adjusted fair value 
of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

The profit or loss impact to the comparative period for additional amortisation is a loss of $1,061,000. 

On 22 May 2015, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital in Magicseaweed Limited and its controlled entities 
(collectively “Magicseaweed”). 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2016, the Group commissioned an independent valuation of the identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Magicseaweed acquisition.  This valuation revealed the net identifiable 
assets as being valued at higher than the provisional fair value and as a result, the goodwill acquired as part of the 
acquisition has subsequently decreased. 

The identified adjustments to the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are set out in the 
table below. 

 

The comparative information shown in the financial statements has been restated to include the adjusted fair value 
of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

The profit or loss impact to the comparative period for additional amortisation is a loss of $62,000. 

In thousands of dollars
Provisional 

amount
Adjustments

Final 
amount

Brands & trademarks 39                  8,326             8,365             
Website & software 2,561             4,292             6,853             
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 566                (1,673)            (1,107)            
Goodwill 30,557           (10,945)          19,612           

In thousands of dollars
Provisional 

amount
Adjustments

Final 
amount

Trade and other receivables 66                  (3)                   63                  

Brands & trademarks -                 1,331             1,331             

Website & software -                 1,741             1,741             

Goodwill 6,997             (3,069)            3,928             



 

5. Internal restructure and acquisition of subsidiaries (continued) 

On 22 May 2015, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital in Rollingyouth Pty Limited and its controlled entities 
(collectively “Rollingyouth”). 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2016, the Group commissioned an independent valuation of the identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Rollingyouth acquisition.  This valuation revealed the net identifiable 
assets as being valued at higher than the provisional fair value and as a result, the goodwill acquired as part of the 
acquisition has subsequently decreased. 

The identified adjustments to the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are set out in the 
table below. 

 

The comparative information shown in the financial statements has been restated to include the adjusted fair value 
of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

The profit or loss impact to the comparative period for additional amortisation is a loss of $22,000. 

In thousands of dollars
Provisional 

amount
Adjustments

Final 
amount

Brands & trademarks -                 358                358                

Website & software -                 667                667                

Deferred tax liabilities -                 (107)               (107)               

Goodwill 1,980             (918)               1,062             



 

5. Internal restructure and acquisition of subsidiaries (continued) 

On 11 November 2015, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital in Garage Entertainment Aust Pty Limited and 
TMG Media Pty Limited (collectively “Garage Entertainment”) for total consideration of $13,198,000. Garage 
Entertainment produces and digitally distributes premium action and extreme sports long form films and television 
content. Garage Entertainment’s full media and content spectrum supported the Group’s strategy of becoming a 
destination site for customers to connect with everything action sports related and engage across all platforms. The 
acquisition of Garage Entertainment consolidates the Group’s digital ecosystem.  By leveraging relevant content to 
attract and retain a rapidly evolving and increasingly sophisticated customer base, the Group aims to significantly 
enhance its customer engagement levels.  

During the period from acquisition through to 30 June 2016, Garage Entertainment contributed revenue of $1,200,000 
and a loss before tax of $1,075,000 to the Group’s results. Had the results of Garage Entertainment been included 
from the beginning of the financial year, it would have contributed revenue of $1,543,000 and a loss before tax of 
$1,198,000 to the Group’s results. 

Acquisition costs of $326,000 were expensed in the consolidated statement of profit and loss in relation to acquisition 
of Garage Entertainment. 

The acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred comprised cash of $2,500,000 and equity instruments 
in SGL of $10,698,000.  The fair value of the ordinary shares issued was based on the listed share price of the 
Company at 11 November 2015 of $1.91 per share. 

 

In thousands of dollars
Provisional 

amount

Cash 2,500             

Equity instruments 10,698           

Total consideration transferred 13,198           



 

5. Internal restructure and acquisition of subsidiaries (continued) 

A summary of the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date are set out 
in the table below. 

 

At acquisition date, management measured the assets and liabilities acquired at fair value with the remainder of the 
purchase consideration being allocated to goodwill. The fair value of Garage Entertainment’s intangible assets has 
been measured provisionally pending completion of an independent valuation.  If new information obtained within one 
year from the acquisition date about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date identifies adjustments 
to the above amounts, or any additional provisions that existed at the acquisition date, then the accounting for the 
acquisition will be revised. 

Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been recognised as set out in the table below. 

 

At 30 June 2016, following an on-going strategic review, impairment testing was performed and it was determined 
that $11,981,000 of the goodwill in Garage Entertainment, $760,000 of its intangible assets and $17,000 of its 
property, plant and equipment were impaired.  Further detail is disclosed in notes 17 and 18. 

In thousands of dollars
Provisional 

amount

Identifiable assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8                    

Trade and other receivables 52                  

Other assets 66                  

Property, plant and equipment 31                  

Brands & trademarks 7                    

Website & software 704                

Deferred tax assets 655                

Total identifiable assets acquired 1,523             

Identifiable liabilities
Trade and other payables 264                

Employee benefits 42                  

Total identifiable liabilities assumed 306                

Net identifiable assets assumed 1,217             

In thousands of dollars
Provisional 

amount

Consideration transferred 13,198           

Fair value of identifiable net assets (1,217)            

Goodwill 11,981           



 

5. Internal restructure and acquisition of subsidiaries (continued) 

On 3 December 2015, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital in SHI Holdings Pty Limited and its controlled 
entities (collectively “Surf Hardware”) for total consideration of $24,259,000. Surf Hardware is a global designer, 
marketer and distributor of innovative and high performance water board sports products and accessories.  The 
acquisition of Surf Hardware strategically aligned with the Group’s core objective to create an environment capable 
of capturing and influencing customers at all points of the surf and action sports lifestyle cycle.  Surf Hardware’s 
products engage with all major stakeholders throughout the Group’s business model, creating a highly beneficial and 
virtuous cycle.  Surf Hardware’s products and content will be leveraged across the Group’s media platforms and be 
monetised through the Group’s eCommerce platform. 

During the period from acquisition through to 30 June 2016, Surf Hardware contributed revenue of $22,813,000 and 
a profit before tax of $2,030,000 to the Group’s results. Had the results of Surf Hardware been included from the 
beginning of the financial year, it would have contributed revenue of $38,164,000 and a profit before tax of $1,888,000 
to the Group’s results. 

Acquisition costs of $427,000 were expensed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in relation to acquisition 
of Surf Hardware. 

The acquisition-date fair value of the consideration transferred comprised cash of $24,259,000. 

A summary of the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date are set out 
in the table below. 

 

 

In thousands of dollars
Provisional 

amount

Identifiable assets
Cash and cash equivalents 623                

Trade and other receivables 5,263             

Inventories 7,992             

Other assets 594                

Property, plant and equipment 1,017             

Brands & trademarks 681                

Deferred tax assets 317                

Total identifiable assets acquired 16,487           

Identifiable liabilities
Trade and other payables 3,383             

Employee benefits 659                

Provisions 343                

Income tax provision 892                

Deferred tax liabilities 38                  

Total identifiable liabilities assumed 5,315             

Net identifiable assets assumed 11,172           



 

5. Internal restructure and acquisition of subsidiaries (continued) 

Management have measured the assets and liabilities acquired at fair value with the remainder of the purchase 
consideration being allocated to goodwill. The fair value of Surf Hardware’s intangible assets has been measured 
provisionally pending completion of an independent valuation.  If new information obtained within one year from the 
acquisition date about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date identifies adjustments to the above 
amounts, or any additional provisions that existed at the acquisition date, then the accounting for the acquisition will 
be revised. 

Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been recognised as set out in the table below. 

 

At 30 June 2016, following an on-going strategic review, impairment testing was performed and it was 
determined that $5,324,000 of the goodwill in Surf Hardware was impaired.  Further detail is disclosed in note 
18. 

  

In thousands of dollars
Provisional 

amount

Consideration transferred 24,259           

Fair value of identifiable net assets (11,172)          

Goodwill 13,087           



 

6. Discontinued operation 
The Group ceased operations of SurfStitch Europe including its website and related business in April 2015, and it is 
considered a discontinued operation.  Prior to this, SurfStitch Europe was not classified as held-for-sale or as a 
discontinued operation. 

 

The loss from the discontinued operation is attributable entirely to the owners of the Company. 

 
  

In thousands of dollars
2016 2015

Revenue -                 4,165             

Expenses (643)               (17,492)          

Impairment expense -                 (19,702)          

Loss from operating activities before tax (643)               (33,029)          

Income tax -                 -                 

Loss from operating activities after tax (643)               (33,029)          

Loss per share (in dollars) (0.00)              (0.20)              

Diluted loss per share (in dollars) (0.00)              (0.20)              

In thousands of dollars
2016 2015

Net cash used in operating activities (635)               (12,393)          

Net cash flows for the period (635)               (12,393)          

 

 

 



 

7. Revenue 

 

 

In thousands of dollars

Continuing 
operations

Discontinued 
operation

Total
Continuing 
operations

Discontinued 
operation

Total

Sale of goods 232,340       -               232,340       97,520         4,165           101,685       
Media & production revenue 5,615           -               5,615           337              -               337              

Total revenue 237,955       -               237,955       97,857         4,165           102,022       

20152016



 

8. Income and expenses 

In thousands of dollars
2016 2015

Unrealised foreign currency gains (net) 54                  (10)                 

Realised foreign currency gains (net) (259)               -                 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (net) (17)                 9                    

Expense recoveries 258                -                 

Sundry income 110                21                  

Total other income 146                20                  

In thousands of dollars
Note 2016

2015
(* restated)

Advertising & promotion 24,237           8,880             

Amortisation 18 14,379           5,402             

Depreciation 17 1,827             575                

Distribution costs 20,215           10,070           

Employee entitlements 12 47,020           18,286           

Rent 24 6,450             1,936             

Transaction fees 6,506             3,183             

Website costs 6,301             2,221             

Other expenses 23,570           8,125             

Total selling, distribution, administrative and IPO expenses 150,505         58,678           

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3. Further
detail is disclosed in note 5.



 

9. Earnings per share 
The calculation of basic earnings per share has been based on the following loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 
and weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding. 

 

 

 

Basic earnings per share is calculated as earnings for the period attributable to the Company over the weighted 
average number of shares. 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as earnings for the period attributable to the Company over the weighted 
average number of shares which has been adjusted to reflect the number of shares which would be issued if 
outstanding options and performance rights were to be exercised.  However due to the statutory loss attributable to 
the Company for both the financial year ended 30 June 2016 and the comparative period ended 30 June 2015, the 
effect of these instruments have been excluded from the calculations of diluted earnings per share for both periods 
as they would reduce the loss per share. 

In thousands of dollars

Continuing 
operations

Discontinued 
operation

Total
Continuing 
operations

Discontinued 
operation

Total

Loss for the period, attributable 
to the owners of the Company

(154,715)        (643)               (155,358)        (17,618)          (33,029)          (50,647)          

2015 (*restated)2016

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3. Further
detail is disclosed in note 5.

In number of shares
Note 2016 2015

Issued ordinary shares at beginning of the period 19 242,475,968  2                    

Effect of shares issued for cash as part of IPO 19 -                 83,192,359    

Effect of shares issued for consideration of purchase of SHPL 19 -                 130,909,374  

Effect of shares issued for consideration of purchase of Garage Entertainment 19 5,600,934      -                 

Effect of other shares issued for cash 19 25,000,000    28,333,499    

Effect of shares issued under share-payment arrangements 19 3,500,502      40,734           

Total number of ordinary shares at end of the period 276,577,404  242,475,968  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at end of the period 261,101,822  166,152,044  

In thousands of dollars

Continuing 
operations

Discontinued 
operation

Total
Continuing 
operations

Discontinued 
operation

Total

Basic loss per share (in dollars) (0.60)              (0.00)              (0.60)              (0.10)              (0.20)              (0.30)              

Diluted loss per share (in 
dollars)

(0.60)              (0.00)              (0.60)              (0.10)              (0.20)              (0.30)              

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3. Further
detail is disclosed in note 5.

2015 (*restated)2016



 

10. Share-based payment arrangements 
At 30 June 2016, the Group had the following share-based payment arrangements:  

Prior to listing, SHPL granted loans of $380,000 each to two executive directors to each acquire 400,000 loan shares. 
On completion of the IPO, these loan shares transferred to SGL.  

The loans are limited recourse in nature and will be forgiven in direct proportion to the vesting of the loan shares. 

The following are the key service, performance and vesting conditions attached to the loan shares.  

 

* Must remain continuously employed by SGL or a Group company until the end of the relevant vesting period. 

⁺ The vesting conditions of Tranche 1 include a performance hurdle relating to the Group’s TSR from listing date to 30 June 2017.  

The number of loan shares on issue during the year is set out in the table below. 

 

Grant date 26-Nov-14
Vesting date - Tranche 1 31-Dec-17
Vesting percentage - Tranche 1 60%
Vesting date - Tranche 2 31-Dec-18
Vesting percentage - Tranche 2 20%
Vesting date - Tranche 3 31-Dec-19
Vesting percentage - Tranche 3 20%
Service condition * Yes
Performance condition + TSR
Expense recognised in period based on grant date fair value $28,840
Equity instrument rights 800,000

In number of shares Loan shares

Outstanding at 1 July 2015 800,000         

Granted during the period -                 

Forfeited during the period (400,000)        

Exercised during the period -                 

Expired during the period -                 

Outstanding at 30 June 2016 400,000         



 

10. Share-based payment arrangements (continued) 

The fair value of loan shares has been measured using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The inputs used in the 
measurement of the fair values at grant date are set out in the following table. 

 

Given the Company was not listed at grant date, expected volatility has been based on an evaluation of the historical 
volatility of the share price of a group of comparable companies, particularly over the historical period commensurate 
with the expected term. The risk free rate represents the government bond rate commensurate with term of vesting 
period. 

Prior to the IPO, SHPL issued performance rights in two grants to an executive director and members of the 
management team. Following completion of the IPO these rights transferred to SGL. 

Following the IPO, SGL issued performance rights across 4 grants to an executive director, members of the 
management team and some employees. 

The following are the key service, performance and vesting conditions attached to the rights.  

 
(1) Given the Company was not listed at grant date, expected volatility has been based on an evaluation of the historical volatility of the 
share price of a group of comparable companies, particularly over the historical period commensurate with the expected term. The risk free 
rate represents the government bond rate commensurate with term of vesting period. 

 

 

Grant date 26-Nov-14
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 1 $0.62
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 2 $0.62
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 3 $0.63
Share price at grant date $1.00
Expected volatility (weighted average) 38.3%
Risk-free interest rate 2.72%
Vesting date 1 - Tranche 1 31-Dec-17
Vesting percentage 1 - Tranche 1 60%
Vesting date 2 - Tranche 2 31-Dec-18
Vesting percentage 2 - Tranche 2 20%
Vesting date 3 - Tranche 3 31-Dec-19
Vesting percentage 3 - Tranche 3 20%

Grant 1 (1) Grant 2 (1) Grant 3 Grant 4 Grant 5

Grant date 26-Nov-14 26-Nov-14 16-Dec-14 18-Mar-15 23-Jun-15
Vesting date - Tranche 1 31-Dec-17 16-Dec-14 31-Dec-17 18-Mar-15 22-Dec-15
Vesting percentage - Tranche 1 60% 33% 60% 33% 33%
Vesting date - Tranche 2 31-Dec-18 16-Dec-17 31-Dec-18 16-Dec-17 22-Dec-16
Vesting percentage - Tranche 2 20% 67% 20% 67% 33%
Vesting date - Tranche 3 31-Dec-19 - 31-Dec-19 - 22-Dec-17
Vesting percentage - Tranche 3 20% - 20% - 33%
Service condition * Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Performance condition + TSR No TSR No No

Expense recognised in period based on grant 
date fair value

$207,551 $192,902 $115,867 $0 $8,361

Equity instruments 400,000 1,192,142 670,000 9,372 15,231



 

10. Share-based payment arrangements (continued) 

* Must remain continuously employed by SGL or a Group company until the end of the relevant vesting period. 

⁺ The vesting conditions of Tranche 1 include a performance hurdle relating to the Group’s TSR from listing date to 30 June 2017.  

Grant 6 Grant 7 Grant 8 Grant 9 Grant 10

Grant date 23-Jun-15 26-Oct-15 22-Dec-15 22-Dec-15 22-Dec-15
Vesting date - Tranche 1 23-Jun-15 27-Oct-15 8-Jan-16 2-Nov-16 2-Nov-16
Vesting percentage - Tranche 1 33% 33% 33% 50% 50%
Vesting date - Tranche 2 31-Dec-17 26-Oct-16 2-Nov-16 2-Nov-17 2-Nov-17
Vesting percentage - Tranche 2 67% 33% 33% 50% 50%
Vesting date - Tranche 3 - 26-Oct-17 2-Nov-17 - -
Vesting percentage - Tranche 3 - 34% 34% - -
Service condition * Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Performance condition + No No No No Yes

Expense recognised in period based on grant 
date fair value

$2,338 $1,112,227 $237,484 $146,913 $178,076

Equity instruments 112,830 891,800 200,000 1,025,000 1,000,000

Grant 11 Grant 12 Grant 13 Grant 14 Grant 15

Grant date 10-Nov-15 31-Jul-15 31-Aug-15 26-Oct-15 26-Oct-15
Vesting date - Tranche 1 30-Jun-18 1-Aug-15 1-Mar-16 27-Oct-15 27-Oct-15
Vesting percentage - Tranche 1 100% 33% 33% 33% 33%
Vesting date - Tranche 2 - 16-Dec-17 1-Mar-17 17-Dec-17 17-Dec-17
Vesting percentage - Tranche 2 - 67% 33% 67% 67%
Vesting date - Tranche 3 - - 1-Mar-18 - -
Vesting percentage - Tranche 3 - - 34% - -
Service condition * Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Performance condition + Yes No No No No

Expense recognised in period based on grant 
date fair value

$127,701 $120,126 $13,522 $28,176 $4,696

Equity instruments 860,621 110,000 11,864 30,000 5,000

Grant 16 Grant 17 Grant 18 Grant 19 Grant 20

Grant date 26-Oct-15 18-Dec-15 12-Feb-16 12-Feb-16 12-Feb-16
Vesting date - Tranche 1 27-Oct-15 1-Mar-16 1-Dec-16 4-Jan-17 4-Jan-17
Vesting percentage - Tranche 1 33% 33% 33% 33% 50%
Vesting date - Tranche 2 17-Dec-17 1-Mar-17 1-Dec-17 4-Jan-18 4-Jan-18
Vesting percentage - Tranche 2 67% 33% 33% 33% 50%
Vesting date - Tranche 3 - 1-Mar-18 1-Dec-18 4-Jan-19 -
Vesting percentage - Tranche 3 - 34% 33% 33% -
Service condition * Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Performance condition + No No No No No

Expense recognised in period based on grant 
date fair value

$9,392 $290,910 $3,368 $8,281 $12,107

Equity instruments 10,000 249,999 7,500 20,000 150,000



 

10. Share-based payment arrangements (continued) 

* Must remain continuously employed by SGL or a Group company until the end of the relevant vesting period. 

⁺ The vesting conditions of Tranche 1 include a performance hurdle relating to the Group’s TSR from listing date to 30 June 2017.  

Grant 21 Grant 22 Grant 23 Grant 24 Grant 25

Grant date 15-Apr-16 22-Apr-16 21-Jun-16 28-Jan-16 15-Jan-16
Vesting date - Tranche 1 31-Jan-17 31-Jan-17 31-Aug-19 1-Feb-16 22-Jul-16
Vesting percentage - Tranche 1 100% 100% 100% 50% 33%
Vesting date - Tranche 2 - - - 24-Feb-17 22-Jul-17
Vesting percentage - Tranche 2 - - - 25% 33%
Vesting date - Tranche 3 - - - 24-Feb-18 22-Jul-18
Vesting percentage - Tranche 3 - - - 25% 33%
Service condition * Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Performance condition + No No Yes No No

Expense recognised in period based on grant 
date fair value

$30,912 $32,128 $1,312 $683,101 $11,719

Equity instruments 104,000 115,000 1,000,000 600,000 15,000

Grant 26 Grant 27 Grant 28 Grant 29

Grant date 15-Apr-16 4-Jan-16 15-Apr-16 15-Apr-16
Vesting date - Tranche 1 5-Jan-17 4-Jan-17 4-Jan-17 17-Apr-16
Vesting percentage - Tranche 1 33% 33% 33% 33%
Vesting date - Tranche 2 5-Jan-18 4-Jan-18 4-Jan-18 17-Dec-17
Vesting percentage - Tranche 2 33% 33% 33% 67%
Vesting date - Tranche 3 7-Jan-19 4-Jan-19 4-Jan-19 -
Vesting percentage - Tranche 3 33% 33% 33% -
Service condition * Yes Yes Yes Yes
Performance condition + No No No No

Expense recognised in period based on grant 
date fair value

$10,720 $28,254 $10,754 $5,536

Equity instruments 50,000 50,000 50,000 10,000



 

10. Share-based payment arrangements (continued) 

The number of performance rights on issue during the year is set out in the tables below. 

 

In number of shares Grant 1 Grant 2 Grant 3 Grant 4 Grant 5

Outstanding at 1 July 2015 400,000         656,833         670,000         6,248             15,231           
Granted during the period -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Forfeited during the period -                 (53,055)          -                 (6,248)            (10,154)          
Exercised during the period (400,000)        -                 -                 -                 (5,077)            
Expired during the period -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Outstanding at 30 June 2016 -                 603,778         670,000         -                 -                 

In number of shares Grant 6 Grant 7 Grant 8 Grant 9 Grant 10

Outstanding at 1 July 2015 75,220           -                 -                 -                 -                 
Granted during the period -                 891,800         200,000         1,025,000      1,000,000      
Forfeited during the period (71,887)          (7,666)            -                 (200,000)        -                 
Exercised during the period -                 (397,267)        (66,666)          -                 -                 
Expired during the period -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Outstanding at 30 June 2016 3,333             486,867         133,334         825,000         1,000,000      

In number of shares Grant 11 Grant 12 Grant 13 Grant 14 Grant 15

Outstanding at 1 July 2015 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Granted during the period 860,621         110,000         11,864           30,000           5,000             
Forfeited during the period (345,230)        -                 -                 -                 -                 
Exercised during the period -                 (36,667)          (3,915)            (10,000)          (1,667)            
Expired during the period -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Outstanding at 30 June 2016 515,391         73,333           7,949             20,000           3,333             

In number of shares Grant 16 Grant 17 Grant 18 Grant 19 Grant 20

Outstanding at 1 July 2015 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Granted during the period 10,000           249,999         7,500             20,000           150,000         
Forfeited during the period -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Exercised during the period (3,333)            (83,333)          -                 -                 -                 
Expired during the period -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Outstanding at 30 June 2016 6,667             166,666         7,500             20,000           150,000         



 

10. Share-based payment arrangements (continued) 

The fair value of performance rights has been measured using a Black Scholes valuation model. The inputs used in 
the measurement of the fair values at grant date are set out in the following tables. 

 

In number of shares
Grant 21 Grant 22 Grant 23 Grant 24 Grant 25

Outstanding at 1 July 2015 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Granted during the period 104,000         115,000         1,000,000      600,000         15,000           
Forfeited during the period (15,000)          -                 -                 -                 -                 
Exercised during the period -                 -                 -                 (300,000)        -                 
Expired during the period -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Outstanding at 30 June 2016 89,000           115,000         1,000,000      300,000         15,000           

In number of shares
Grant 26 Grant 27 Grant 28 Grant 29

Outstanding at 1 July 2015 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Granted during the period 50,000           50,000           50,000           10,000           
Forfeited during the period -                 -                 -                 -                 
Exercised during the period -                 -                 -                 (3,333)            
Expired during the period -                 -                 -                 -                 

Outstanding at 30 June 2016 50,000           50,000           50,000           6,667             

Grant 1 Grant 2 Grant 3 Grant 4 Grant 5

Grant date 26-Nov-14 26-Nov-14 16-Dec-14 18-Mar-15 23-Jun-15
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 1 $0.62 $1.00 $0.62 $1.39 $1.75
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 2 $0.62 $1.00 $0.62 $1.39 $1.75
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 3 $0.63 - $0.63 - $1.75
Share price at grant date $1.00 $1.00 $1.00 $1.39 $1.75
Expected volatility (weighted average) 38.3% 38.3% 38.3% 38.3% 38.3%
Expected dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Risk-free interest rate 2.85% 2.73% 2.85% 2.33% 2.42%
Vesting period - Tranche 1 3 years 1 month 3 years Nil 6 months
Vesting period - Tranche 2 4 years 3 years 4 years 3 years 2 years
Vesting period - Tranche 3 5 years N/a 5 years N/a 3 years



 

10. Share-based payment arrangements (continued) 

Grant 6 Grant 7 Grant 8 Grant 9 Grant 10

Grant date 23-Jun-15 26-Oct-15 22-Dec-15 22-Dec-15 22-Dec-15
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 1 $1.75 $1.72 $1.89 $0.36 $0.36
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 2 $1.75 $1.72 $1.89 $0.48 $0.48
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 3 - $1.72 $1.89 - -
Share price at grant date $1.75 $1.72 $1.89 $1.89 $1.89
Expected volatility (weighted average) 38.3% 38.3% 38.3% 38.3% 38.3%
Expected dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Risk-free interest rate 2.47% 2.06% 1.96% 2.00% 2.00%
Vesting period - Tranche 1 Nil Nil 1 month 1 month 1 month
Vesting period - Tranche 2 3 years 1 year 1 year 2 years 2 years
Vesting period - Tranche 3 N/a 2 years 2 years - -

Grant 11 Grant 12 Grant 13 Grant 14 Grant 15

Grant date 10-Nov-15 31-Jul-15 31-Aug-15 26-Oct-15 26-Oct-15
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 1 $1.09 $1.85 $1.82 $1.72 $1.72
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 2 - $1.85 $1.82 $1.72 $1.72
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 3 - - $1.82 - -
Share price at grant date $1.78 $1.85 $1.82 $1.72 $1.72
Expected volatility (weighted average) 45.0% 38.3% 38.3% 38.3% 38.3%
Expected dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Risk-free interest rate 1.75% 2.29% 2.10% 2.20% 2.20%
Vesting period - Tranche 1 3 years Nil 6 months Nil Nil
Vesting period - Tranche 2 - 30 months 18 months 2 years 2 years
Vesting period - Tranche 3 - - 30 months - -

Grant 16 Grant 17 Grant 18 Grant 19 Grant 20

Grant date 26-Oct-15 18-Dec-15 12-Feb-16 12-Feb-16 12-Feb-16
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 1 $1.72 $1.94 $1.64 $1.64 $0.22
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 2 $1.72 $1.94 $1.64 $1.64 $0.34
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 3 - $1.94 $1.64 $1.64 -
Share price at grant date $1.72 $1.94 $1.64 $1.64 $1.64
Expected volatility (weighted average) 38.3% 38.3% 38.3% 38.3% 38.3%
Expected dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Risk-free interest rate 2.20% 2.00% 2.01% 2.03% 1.89%
Vesting period - Tranche 1 Nil 2 months 10 months 11 months 11 months
Vesting period - Tranche 2 2 years 1 year 22 months 23 months 23 months
Vesting period - Tranche 3 - 2 years 34 months 35 months -



 

10. Share-based payment arrangements (continued) 

 

Grant 21 Grant 22 Grant 23 Grant 24 Grant 25

Grant date 15-Apr-16 22-Apr-16 21-Jun-16 28-Jan-16 15-Jan-16
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 1 $1.33 $1.15 $0.17 $1.75 $1.71
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 2 - - - $1.75 $1.71
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 3 - - - $1.75 $1.71
Share price at grant date $1.33 $1.15 $0.22 $1.76 $1.72
Expected volatility (weighted average) 38.3% 38.3% 45.0% 38.3% 38.3%
Expected dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Risk-free interest rate 1.98% 2.05% 1.61% 2.06% 2.15%
Vesting period - Tranche 1 8 months 8 months 38 months 3 days 6 months
Vesting period - Tranche 2 - - - 13 months 18 months
Vesting period - Tranche 3 - - - 25 months 30 months

Grant 26 Grant 27 Grant 28 Grant 29

Grant date 15-Apr-16 4-Jan-16 15-Apr-16 15-Apr-16
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 1 $1.33 $1.90 $1.33 $1.33
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 2 $1.33 $1.90 $1.33 $1.33
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 3 $1.33 $1.90 $1.33 -
Share price at grant date $1.33 $1.90 $1.33 $1.33
Expected volatility (weighted average) 38.3% 38.3% 38.3% 38.3%
Expected dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil
Risk-free interest rate 2.19% 2.33% 2.19% 2.05%
Vesting period - Tranche 1 9 months 1 year 9 months Nil
Vesting period - Tranche 2 21 months 2 years 21 months 20 months
Vesting period - Tranche 3 33 months 3 years 33 months -



 

10. Share-based payment arrangements (continued) 

As part of the acquisition of Magicseaweed, Rollingyouth and Garage Entertainment, shares were granted to key 
employees of the businesses. These shares will vest and be issued on completion of the required service periods. 

The following are the key service, performance and vesting conditions attached to the awards.  

 

The vesting of these shares is contingent on the employee completing the relevant service period only. There are no 
performance hurdles related to these shares. Accordingly, the grant date fair value is based on SGL’s share price on 
grant date. 

(ii) Share-based payment awards pursuant to acquisition of subsidiaries on issue 

The number of shares on issue during the year is set out in the table below. 

 

Magicseaweed Rollingyouth Rollingyouth
Garage 

Entertainment

Grant date 22-May-15 22-May-15 22-May-15 12-Nov-15
Vesting date - Tranche 1 22-May-16 22-May-16 22-May-16 12-Nov-16
Vesting percentage - Tranche 1 33.33% 66.66% 33.34% 41.38%
Vesting date - Tranche 2 22-May-17 22-May-17 22-May-17 12-Nov-17
Vesting percentage - Tranche 2 33.33% 33.34% 33.33% 58.62%
Vesting date - Tranche 3 22-May-18 - 22-May-18 N/a
Vesting percentage - Tranche 3 33.34% - 33.33% N/a
Service condition * Yes Yes Yes Yes
Performance condition + No No No No
Expense recognised in period based on grant date fair value $2,244,482 $2,437,836 $595,389 $1,503,041
Equity instrument rights 2,298,846 1,829,520 609,840 1,691,949

In number of shares
Magicseaweed Rollingyouth Rollingyouth

Garage 
Entertainment

Outstanding at 1 July 2015 2,298,846      1,829,520      609,840         -                 
Granted during the period -                 -                 -                 1,691,949      
Forfeited during the period -                 -                 -                 -                 
Exercised during the period (766,281)        (1,219,680)     (203,280)        -                 
Expired during the period -                 -                 -                 -                 

Outstanding at 30 June 2016 1,532,565      609,840         406,560         1,691,949      



 

10. Share-based payment arrangements (continued) 

The fair value of share-based payment awards pursuant to acquisition of subsidiaries has been measured using a 
Black Scholes valuation model. The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date are set out in the 
following table. 

 

 

Magicseaweed Rollingyouth Rollingyouth
Garage 

Entertainment

Grant date 22-May-15 22-May-15 22-May-15 12-Nov-15
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 1 $1.69 $1.69 $1.69 $1.99
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 2 $1.69 $1.69 $1.69 $1.99
Fair value at grant date - Tranche 3 $1.69 - $1.69 -
Share price at grant date $1.70 $1.70 $1.70 $1.99
Expected volatility (weighted average) 38.3% 38.3% 38.3% 38.3%
Expected dividends Nil Nil Nil Nil
Risk-free interest rate 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.39%
Vesting period - Tranche 1 1 year 1 year 1 year 1 year
Vesting period - Tranche 2 2 years 2 years 2 years 2 years
Vesting period - Tranche 3 3 years - 3 years -



 

11. Other employee benefits 

 

(1) This amount includes a liability recognised in respect of services provided by employees following the acquisition of Magicseaweed. The 
amounts will be paid to employees following completion of a service period as outlined in the share purchase agreement.  

In thousands of dollars
2016 2015

Liability for annual leave 1,166             624                

Liability for long service leave 488                180                

Liability for bonuses (1) 1,106             603                

Other benefits 19                  298                

Total employee benefits 2,779             1,705             

Current 2,486             1,525             

Non-current 293                180                

Total employee benefits 2,779             1,705             



 

12. Employee benefit expenses 

 
(1) The increase in the liability for annual leave and long service leave during the financial year does not include liability balances acquired 
as part of business combinations.  Further detail is disclosed in note 5.  

In thousands of dollars
Note 2016 2015

Wages and salaries 33,513           15,933           

Compulsory superannuation contributions 1,376             524                

Termination benefits 541                228                

Increase in liability for annual leave (1) 1,132             222                

Increase/(decrease) in liability for long service leave (1) 14                  (11)                 

Equity-settled share based payments 10 10,444           1,390             

Total employee benefits expense 47,020           18,286           



 

13. Income taxes 

 

The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax periods based on its assessment 
of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. 

 

 

 

In thousands of dollars
2016 2015

Current tax expense 825                -                 

Deferred tax benefit (250)               (3,583)            

Prior period tax benefit (1,070)            -                 

Tax benefit on continuing operations (495)               (3,583)            

In thousands of dollars Before tax Tax expense Net of tax Before tax Tax expense Net of tax

Capital raising costs 1,537             (1,604)            (67)                 5,186             (787)               4,399             

Total recognised directly in 
equity

1,537             (1,604)            (67)                 5,186             (787)               4,399             

20152016

% $'000 % $'000

Loss before tax from continuing operations (155,210)        (21,201)          

Tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate 30% (46,563)          30% (6,360)            

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 10% 2,376             10% 332                

Non-deductible impairment expense 30% 19,133           30% -                 

Non-deductible capital raising costs 30% -                 30% 656                

Non-deductible acquisition costs 30% 180                30% 740                

Non-deductible share-based payments expense 30% 3,074             30% -                 

Other non-deductible expenses 30% 2,411             30% 586                

Tax base uplift as a result of tax grouping 30% -                 30% 247                

30% 1,755             30% -                 

Write-down of other previously recognised deferred tax assets 30% 3,395             30% -                 

30% 14,814           30% 216                

Change in estimates related to prior periods 30% (1,070)            30% -                 

Effective tax rate 0% (495)               17% (3,583)            

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3. Further
detail is disclosed in note 5.

Current period losses for which no deferred tax asset was 
recognised

Write-down of previously recognised deferred tax assets in 
relation to tax losses

2015 (*restated)2016



 

13. Income taxes (continued) 

 

In thousands of dollars

Net balance at 
1 July 2015
(*restated)

Recognised in 
profit or loss

Recognised 
directly in 

equity

Acquired in 
business 

combinations

Net balance at 
30 June 2016

Property, plant and equipment 22                  27                  -                 -                 49                  

Intangibles assets (5,924)            6,115             -                 -                 191                

Inventories -                 793                -                 22                  815                

Other assets -                 (11)                 -                 24                  13                  

Employee benefits 437                (204)               -                 181                414                

Provisions 510                (132)               -                 107                485                

Deferred revenue -                 (2,733)            -                 -                 (2,733)            

Other liabilities -                 575                -                 (44)                 531                

Tax losses 4,034             (3,556)            -                 644                1,122             

Capital raising costs 823                (624)               1,604             -                 1,803             

Net tax assets at 30 June 2016 (98)                 250                1,604             934                2,690             

Deferred tax assets 5,592             

Deferred tax liabilities (2,902)            

Net tax assets at 30 June 2016 2,690             

In thousands of dollars

Net balance at 
13 October 

2014

Recognised in 
profit or loss

Recognised 
directly in 

equity

Acquired in 
business 

combinations

Net balance at 
30 June 2015 

(*restated)

Property, plant and equipment -                 136                -                 (114)               22                  

Intangibles assets -                 98                  -                 (6,022)            (5,924)            

Inventories -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Other assets -                 23                  -                 (23)                 -                 

Employee benefits -                 105                -                 332                437                

Provisions -                 238                -                 272                510                

Deferred revenue -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Other liabilities -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Tax losses -                 3,174             -                 860                4,034             

Capital raising costs -                 (191)               787                227                823                

Net tax assets at 30 June 2015 -                 3,583             787                (4,468)            (98)                 

Deferred tax assets 5,809             

Deferred tax liabilities (5,907)            

Net tax assets at 30 June 2015 (98)                 

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3. Further
detail is disclosed in note 5.



 

13. Income taxes (continued) 

 

 

 

 

In thousands of dollars
2016 2015

Deductible temporary difference (will never expire) 3,395             -                 

Tax losses (will never expire) 16,569           -                 

Total unrecognised deferred tax assets 19,964           -                 



 

13. Income taxes (continued) 



 

14. Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Amounts from payment providers of $1,106,000 have been reclassified from cash and cash equivalents to trade and 
other receivables at 30 June 2015 to conform to current year classification. These amounts were received within a 
few days after the end of the comparative financial period.   

In thousands of dollars
2016

2015
(*restated)

Bank balances 21,366           39,512           

Cash on hand 7                    -                 

Call deposits -                 219                

Total cash and cash equivalents 21,373           39,731           



 

15. Trade and other receivables 

 

Further detail about the Group’s exposure to credit and market risks, and impairment losses for trade and other 
receivables is disclosed in note 22. 

In thousands of dollars
2016

2015
(*restated)

Trade receivables 8,210             2,739             

Provision for impairment of trade receivables (53)                 -                 

Other receivables 834                347                

Total trade and other receivables 8,991             3,086             

Current 8,991             3,086             

Non-current -                 -                 

Total trade and other receivables 8,991             3,086             

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect a change in classification of asset balances, further detail of which is
disclosed in note 14.



 

16. Inventories 

 

 

In thousands of dollars
2016 2015

Finished goods 36,664           43,290           

Raw materials 315                -                 

Total inventories 36,979           43,290           



 

17. Property, plant and equipment 

 

  

Cost

In thousands of dollars
Note

Plant & 
equipment

Leased plant & 
equipment

Total

Balance at 13 October 2014 -                 -                 -                 

Acquisitions through business combinations 3,098             598                3,696             

Additions 195                431                626                

Disposals (209)               (320)               (529)               

Effect of movements in exchange rates 39                  3                    42                  

Balance at 30 June 2015 3,123             712                3,835             

Balance at 1 July 2015 3,123             712                3,835             

Acquisitions through business combinations 5 911                137                1,048             

Additions 2,068             788                2,856             

Disposals (271)               (4)                   (275)               

Impairments (685)               (128)               (813)               

Effect of movements in exchange rates (99)                 (6)                   (105)               

Balance at 30 June 2016 5,047             1,499             6,546             

Accumulated depreciation

In thousands of dollars

Plant & 
equipment

Leased plant & 
equipment

Total

Balance at 13 October 2014 -                 -                 -                 

Depreciation - continuing operations 432                143                575                

Depreciation - discontinued operation 50                  59                  109                

Disposals (94)                 (59)                 (153)               

Balance at 30 June 2015 388                143                531                

Balance at 1 July 2015 388                143                531                

Depreciation - continuing operations 1,347             480                1,827             

Depreciation - discontinued operation 8                    -                 8                    

Disposals (163)               (1)                   (164)               

Effect of movements in exchange rates (54)                 (7)                   (61)                 

Balance at 30 June 2016 1,526             615                2,141             

Carrying amounts

In thousands of dollars

Plant & 
equipment

Leased plant & 
equipment

Total

Balance at 30 June 2015 2,735             569                3,304             

Balance at 30 June 2016 3,521             884                4,405             



 

17. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 



 

18. Intangible assets and goodwill 

 

Cost

In thousands of dollars
Note Goodwill

Brands & 
trademarks

Website & 
software

Total

Balance at 13 October 2014 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Acquisitions through business combinations 55,655           27,157           24,619           107,431         

Additions -                 9                    2,684             2,693             

Disposals -                 -                 (3,737)            (3,737)            

Impairments (19,702)          -                 -                 (19,702)          

Effect of movements in exchange rates 48                  399                329                776                

Balance at 30 June 2015 (*restated) 36,001           27,565           23,895           87,461           

Balance at 1 July 2015 (*restated) 36,001           27,565           23,895           87,461           

Acquisitions through business combinations 5 25,068           688                704                26,460           

Additions -                 314                7,722             8,036             

Disposals -                 -                 (5,319)            (5,319)            

Impairments (54,628)          (19,012)          (14,546)          (88,186)          

Effect of movements in exchange rates 168                170                (712)               (374)               

Balance at 30 June 2016 6,609             9,725             11,744           28,078           

Accumulated amortisation

In thousands of dollars
Goodwill

Brands & 
trademarks

Website & 
software

Total

Balance at 13 October 2014 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Amortisation - continuing operations -                 1,437             3,965             5,402             

Amortisation - discontinued operation -                 -                 826                826                

Disposals -                 -                 (2,403)            (2,403)            

Balance at 30 June 2015 (*restated) -                 1,437             2,388             3,825             

Balance at 1 July 2015 (*restated) -                 1,437             2,388             3,825             

Amortisation - continuing operations -                 2,924             11,455           14,379           

Disposals -                 -                 (5,255)            (5,255)            

Effect of movements in exchange rates -                 98                  (60)                 38                  

Balance at 30 June 2016 -                 4,459             8,528             12,987           

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3. Further
detail is disclosed in note 5.



 

18. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued) 

As part of the on-going strategic review announced on 15 July 2016, management undertook impairment testing at 
30 June 2016 for all cash generating units (“CGUs”).  The testing for the Surf Hardware CGU has been conducted 
using the higher of a value in use model and a fair value less costs of disposal model.  All other CGUs were tested 
using a value in use model. 

The Group’s operations are allocated to CGUs after taking into consideration the nature of the business, how 
operations are monitored, and where independent cash flows are identifiable.   Seven independent CGUs have been 
identified across the Group against which impairment testing has been undertaken: 

 

 

 

 

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the Group’s CGUs (after impairment) and the impairment expense 
recorded in FY16 is set out in the following table. 

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3.  Further 
detail is disclosed in note 5. 

(1) Garage Entertainment and Surf Hardware were acquired in FY16 and were therefore not classified as CGUs in FY15.  

In thousands of dollars
Goodwill

Brands & 
trademarks

Website & 
software

Total

Balance at 30 June 2015 (*restated) 36,001           26,128           21,507           83,636           

Balance at 30 June 2016 6,609             5,266             3,216             15,091           

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3. Further
detail is disclosed in note 5.

In thousands of dollars

2016
Impairment 

expense

2016
Goodwill

2015
(*restated)
Goodwill

Asia-Pacific Retail 22,474       -             9,353         

Europe Retail 31,655       -             19,612       

North America Retail 6,658         -             2,049         

Magicseaweed 6,668         -             3,925         

Rollingyouth 2,154         -             1,062         

Garage Entertainment (1) 12,912       -             -             

Surf Hardware (1) 6,478         6,609         -             

Total 88,999       6,609         36,001       



18. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued) 

The recoverable amount of the following CGUs was determined based on a value in use calculation: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Group experienced declines in sales and profitability across its retail CGUs (Asia-Pacific Retail, Europe Retail 
and North America Retail) which are not expected to recover in the foreseeable future and as a result an impairment 
expense was recognised for these CGUs in the financial year ended 30 June 2016. 

The Group’s original strategy in acquiring its media CGUs (Magicseaweed, Rollingyouth and Garage Entertainment) 
was to leverage their content and customer base to significantly enhance the Group’s retail customer engagement 
levels.  The integration of these opportunities has been slow and there has been lower than expected benefit gained 
from this integration.  As part of the on-going strategic review announced in July 2016, management have concluded 
that the expected integration benefits will not likely eventuate in the foreseeable future and as a result an impairment 
expense was recognised for these CGUs in the financial year ended 30 June 2016.  

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a post-tax 
discount rate. 

Forecast revenue and EBITDA is calculated for FY17 to FY21 adopting revenue growth rates consistent with historical 
trends and forecasted market analysis, management strategic plans and an EBITDA growth consistent with expected 
forecast performance and comparable companies.  The FY17 assumptions represent the Board approved budget. 

The key assumptions used for each CGU based on the value in use calculation are set out below. 

EBITDA is forecast to increase based on: 

 

 

 

Group overheads 

Group overheads include retail eCommerce overhead costs and corporate overhead costs that have been allocated 
to each CGU. 

These are both forecast to increase by an average of revenue growth and CPI over the forecast period. 

 

Asia-Pacific 
Retail

Europe 
Retail

North 
America 

Retail

Magic-
seaweed

Rolling-
youth

Garage 
Entertain-

ment

Revenue growth rate (5 year average) 6.4% 11.4% 10.1% 23.4% 4.4% 21.2%



 

18. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued) 

The cash flows for capital expenditure are based on past experience and the amounts included in the terminal year 
calculation are for maintenance capital.  The resulting expenditure has been compared against the annual 
depreciation charge to ensure that it is reasonable. 

The cash flows for working capital investment are forecast to increase in order to support the forecast growth in 
revenue for the retail CGUs. 

Post-tax discount rates as set out in the table below reflect the Group’s estimate of the time value of money and risks 
specific to each CGU.  In determining the appropriate discount rate for each CGU, consideration has been given to 
the estimated weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) for the Group adjusted for country and business risks 
specific to that CGU, including benchmarking against relevant peer group companies.  The post-tax discount rate is 
applied to post-tax cash flows that include an allowance for tax based on the respective jurisdiction’s tax rate.  This 
method is used to approximate the requirement of the accounting standards to apply a pre-tax discount rate to pre-
tax cash flows. 

During the comparative period, a post-tax weighted average cost of capital of 9.4% to 11.7%, reflecting the risk 
estimates from a market perspective for the various CGUs tested, had been applied. 

The terminal value is calculated using the perpetuity growth model applying a growth rate of between 1% and 2%. 

Sensitivities 

Other than as disclosed below, the Group believes that for all other CGUs, any reasonable possible change in the 
key assumptions would not cause the carrying values to exceed their recoverable amount. 

The changes in the impairment amounts and corresponding carrying values that would occur as a result of a 
reasonably possible change to key assumptions are set out in the following table. 

 

 

Asia-Pacific 
Retail

Europe 
Retail

North 
America 

Retail

Magic-
seaweed

Rolling-
youth

Garage 
Entertain-

ment

Post-tax weighted average cost of capital 12.7% 11.1% 13.1% 11.1% 12.7% 12.6%

Impairment value increase/(decrease)

Asia-Pacific 
Retail

Europe 
Retail

Retail gross margin  - increase by 100 bps (6,944)        (8,893)        

Retail gross margin  - decrease by 100 bps 6,945         3,717         

Post-tax weighted average cost of capital - increase by 100 bps 739            545            

Post-tax weighted average cost of capital - decrease by 100 bps (886)           (678)           

Allocation of Group overheads - increase by 100 bps 1,338         1,849         

Allocation of Group overheads - decrease by 100 bps (1,224)        (1,696)        



 

18. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued) 

As part of the on-going strategic review announced on 15 July 2016, management concluded that while Surf Hardware 
is a good business, it does not represent a strategic fit with the Group and management are considering opportunities 
for its divestment. 

As such, the recoverable amount of the Surf Hardware CGU was determined based on a fair value less costs of 
disposal calculation. 

The key assumptions were based on a third party indicative pricing range valuation, less estimated cost of legal and 
other professional fees.  An acquisition multiple of 5 to 6 times normalised FY16 EBITDA was applied. 

The resulting impairment amount for Surf Hardware was $6,478,000. 

A 10% increase in the third party indicative pricing range would decrease the impairment by $1,750,000.  A 10% 
decrease in the third party indicative pricing range would increase the impairment by $1,750,000. 



 

19. Capital and reserves 

 

All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.  

The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares.  All issued shares are 
fully paid.   

The holders of these shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are entitled to one 
vote per share at general meetings of the Company. 

On 1 December 2015, SGL issued 25,000,000 shares under a share purchase plan to existing shareholders raising 
$50,000,000 at an issue price of $2.00 per share. 

On 11 November 2015, SGL issued 5,600,934 shares to the existing shareholders of Garage Entertainment Aust Pty 
Ltd and TMG Media Pty Ltd (collectively “Garage Entertainment”) in part-consideration for acquiring 100% of the 
share capital in those entities. 

These amounts relate to share-based payments to employees that have vested into one fully paid share. 

SGL incurred $1,375,000 transaction costs in relation to the current year capital raising, and received a $413,000 
income tax benefit in relation to these costs. 

Also during the financial year, SGL incurred $162,000 additional transaction costs in relation to the May 2015 capital 
raising and booked a $1,192,000 additional income tax benefit in relation to all costs incurred in the prior year’s capital 
raising. 

Shares $'000s

In issue at 13 October 2014 2                    -                 

Issued for cash as part of IPO 83,192,359    83,192           

Issued for consideration in business combination 127,031,327  127,032         

Issued for no consideration in business combination 3,400,000      -                 

Issued for cash 28,333,499    42,500           

Issued under share-based payment arrangements 518,781         -                 

Capital raising costs -                 (4,399)            

In issue at 30 June 2015 242,475,968  248,325         

In issue at 1 July 2015 242,475,968  248,325         

Issued for cash (i) 25,000,000    50,000           

Issued for consideration in business combination (ii) 5,600,934      10,698           

Issued under share-based payment arrangements (iii) 3,500,502      -                 

Capital raising costs (iv) -                 67                  

In issue at 30 June 2016 276,577,404  309,090         



 

19. Capital and reserves (continued) 

The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations, as well as the effective portion of any foreign currency differences arising from 
hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation. 

The share-based payments reserve is used to record the value of equity-settled share-based payments provided to 
employees as part of their remuneration. 

The other equity reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid by SGL, and the net identifiable 
assets of SHPL on 16 December 2014, being the date SGL acquired SHPL.  Further detail is disclosed in note 5. 

No dividends were declared or paid by the Company for the year (2015: nil). 



 

20. Trade and other payables 

 

Further detail about the Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk are disclosed in note 22. 

In thousands of dollars

2016 2015
(*restated)

Trade payables 26,807           26,791           

Trade payables due to related parties -                 148                

Other payables 4,983             7,815             

Accrued expenses 5,214             1,527             

Total trade and other payables 37,004           36,281           

Current 37,004           36,281           

Non-current -                 -                 

Total trade and other payables 37,004           36,281           

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3. Further
detail is disclosed in note 5.



 

21. Provisions 

 

In thousands of dollars Note
Customer 

returns
Make good

Onerous 
contracts

Restructure Total

Balance at 1 July 2015 1,130           426              720              -               2,276           
Assumed in a business combination 5 -               -               343              -               343              
Provisions made during the period 1,595           256              1,263           429              3,543           
Provisions used during the period (1,115)          (115)             (720)             -               (1,950)          
Provisions reversed during the period -               -               (27)               -               (27)               
Effect of movements in exchange rates (15)               2                  58                -               45                

Balance at 30 June 2016 1,595           569              1,637           429              4,230           

Current 1,595           569              757              429              3,350           

Non-current -               -               880              -               880              

Total provisions 1,595           569              1,637           429              4,230           



 

22. Financial instruments – fair values and risk management 

The Group has financial assets of cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. These financial assets 
are not measured at fair value, and the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value at 30 June 2016. 

The Group has financial liabilities of trade and other payables. These financial liabilities are not measured at fair value, 
and the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value at 30 June 2016. 

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments: 

 

 

 

The Company’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework. The Board of Directors has established the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee, which 
is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management policies. The committee reports regularly 
to the Board of Directors on its activities. 

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and 
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through 
its training and management standards and procedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control 
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

The Group Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s 
risk management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation 
to the risks faced by the Group.   

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.   



 

22. Financial instruments – fair values and risk management (continued) 

Trade and other receivables 

In the view of the Board of Directors, the Group’s exposure to credit risk is not significant due to immediate cash 
settlement at time of sale for all retail sales and for those sales made on deferred payment terms, the number of 
historically uncollectible receivables is minimal. 

At 30 June, the maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables by geographic region is set out in the 
following table. 

 

Impairment 

At 30 June, the aging of the trade and other receivables that were not impaired are set out in the following table. 

 

The Group holds a provision for impaired trade receivables of $53,000 at 30 June 2016. 

Trade receivables totalling $121,000 were written off during the year.   

Cash and cash equivalents 

The Group held cash and cash equivalents of $21,373,000 at 30 June 2016. The cash and cash equivalents are held 
with bank and financial institution counterparties, which are rated AA- to AA+, based on rating agency Standard & 
Poor’s ratings. 

In thousands of dollars
Note 2016

2015
(*restated)

Asia Pacific 2,786             723                

Europe 2,825             2,071             

United States of America 3,380             292                

Total trade and other receivables 15 8,991             3,086             

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect a change in classification of asset balances, further detail of which is
disclosed in note 14.

In thousands of dollars
Note 2016

2015
(*restated)

Neither past due nor impaired 5,940             3,086             

30 to 60 days past due but not impaired 1,227             -                 

60 to 90 days past due but not impaired 1,085             -                 

Over 90 days past due but not impaired 739                -                 

Total trade and other receivables 15 8,991             3,086             

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect a change in classification of asset balances, further detail of which is
disclosed in note 14.



 

22. Financial instruments – fair values and risk management (continued) 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.  The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is 
to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. 

The Group aims to maintain cash at a level appropriate to fund operations. At 30 June 2016, the expected cash flows 
from trade and other receivables maturing within two months were $5,940,000.   

Exposure to liquidity risk 

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date.  The amounts are 
gross and undiscounted, and include estimated interest payments and exclude the impact of netting agreements. 

 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices – such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices 
– will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 
return. 

Currency risk 

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is limited due to the natural hedge afforded to the Group by purchasing 
and selling in local currency in all countries in which it operates.  

The Group holds the following foreign currency contracts: 

 

 

In thousands of dollars

2 months or 
less

2-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years
More than 5 

years

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 37,004           22,241           14,763           -                 -                 -                 
Total non-derivative financial 
liabilities

37,004           22,241           14,763           -                 -                 -                 

In thousands of dollars

2 months or 
less

2-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years
More than 5 

years

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 36,281           26,789           9,492             -                 -                 -                 
Total non-derivative financial 
liabilities

36,281           26,789           9,492             -                 -                 -                 

Carrying 
amount at 

30 June 2015

Contractual cash flows

Carrying 
amount at 

30 June 2016

Contractual cash flows



 

22. Financial instruments – fair values and risk management (continued) 

Exposure to currency risk 

The summary quantitative data about the Group’s exposure to currency risk as reported to the management of the 
Group is set out in the following table. 

 

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3.  Further 
detail is disclosed in note 5. 

(1) These amounts include all currency risk, some of which would be sheltered by the foreign currency translation reserve. 

The following significant exchange rates have been applied in preparing the consolidated statement of financial 
position and consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

 

In local currency (thousands) EUR GBP USD

Trade and other receivables (1) 996                751                2,530             

Trade and other payables (1) (565)               (9,863)            (3,944)            

Net statement of financial position exposure 431                (9,112)            (1,414)            

In local currency (thousands) EUR GBP USD

Trade and other receivables (1) 23                  1,036             235                

Trade and other payables (1) (1,657)            (8,593)            (5,154)            

Net statement of financial position exposure (1,634)            (7,556)            (4,919)            

2015 *restated

2016

In AUD Average rate
Year-end 
spot rate

Average rate
Year-end 
spot rate

EUR 0.66               0.67               0.73               0.71               
GBP 0.50               0.55               0.55               0.51               
USD 0.73               0.74               0.87               0.80               

20152016



 

22. Financial instruments – fair values and risk management (continued) 

Sensitivity analysis 

A reasonably possible strengthening or weakening of the AUD against the below currencies at 30 June 2016 would 
have affected the measurement of financial assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency and affected 
equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 
interest rates, remain constant and ignores any impact of forecast sales and purchases. 

 

Effect in thousands of dollars Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening

EUR (5% movement) (1)                   1                    (45)                 52                  
GBP (5% movement) (12)                 12                  1,364             (1,634)            
USD (5% movement) 24                  (47)                 120                (137)               

Equity, net of taxProfit or (loss)



 

23. List of subsidiaries 
A list of the material subsidiaries of the Group is set out in the table below. 



 

24.  Operating leases 
The Group leases a number of warehouse and office facilities under operating leases. The leases typically run for a 
period of 1 to 5 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. Lease payments are renegotiated every year 
to reflect market rentals. Some leases provide for additional rent payments that are based on changes in local price 
indices.  For certain operating leases, the Group is restricted from entering into any sublease arrangements. 

At 30 June, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases were payable as set out in the following 
table. 

 

 

 
  

In thousands of dollars
2016 2015

Less than one year 4,651             2,690             

Between one and five years 10,102           2,275             

More than five years 323                -                 

Total future minimum lease payments 15,076           4,965             

In thousands of dollars
2016 2015

Lease expense 5,185             1,630             

Onerous lease expense 1,265             306                

Total amounts recognised in profit or loss 6,450             1,936             



 

25. Commitments  
As disclosed in the Director’s Report, the Group entered into a 10 year contract for Coastalwatch to host a link to 
SurfStitch’s website for an $800,000 annual payment, payable each year for the next 9 years. The Group has no other 
material capital commitments as at 30 June 2016 (2015: nil). 

26. Contingencies  
Entities within the Group are defendants in legal proceedings arising out of a series of agreements entered into with 
Coastalwatch Pty Ltd (“Coastalwatch”), Three Crowns Investments Pty Ltd (“TCI”) and Coastalcoms Pty Ltd 
(“Coastalcoms”) (collectively the “3CM Entities”) during FY16.   

Claim pursuant to an App Branding Licence (District Court of Queensland) 

On 3 August 2016, TCI commenced a proceeding against SurfStitch Group Limited in relation to fees allegedly 
payable pursuant to an App Branding Licence entered into between the parties in 1H FY16 (and varied in 2H FY16) 
(the “App Branding Licence”). TCI seeks an award of $275,000 (being the first of two instalments allegedly owing 
pursuant to the agreement), plus costs and interest.  

Claim pursuant to a Software Licensing Agreement (Supreme Court of Queensland) 

On 9 August 2016, Coastalcoms commenced a proceeding against SurfStitch Holdings Pty Ltd seeking damages as 
a result of the termination of a Software Licensing Agreement entered into between the parties in 2H FY16.  
Coastalcoms claims damages for breach of contract in the sum of US$8.73m, applicable GST (if any), plus costs and 
interest.  

The Group will be defending the above proceedings. The amount of liability, if any, that may arise from the 
proceedings cannot be measured reliably at this time and as such no provision has been recorded. 

A firm of solicitors issued a media release on 11 June 2016 indicating it was engaged in a preliminary investigation 
of the Group, and invited shareholders to register their interest in participating in a possible class action.  There is 
significant uncertainty as to whether a future liability will arise with respect of this matter.  The amount of liability, if 
any, cannot be measured reliably at this time.    

The Group has no other material contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2016 (2015: nil). 

 

 



 

27. Related parties  

SurfStitch Group Limited was the parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group throughout the year ended 30 
June 2016. 

The key management personnel compensation is set out in the table below. 

 

Compensation of the Group’s key management personnel includes salaries and non-cash benefits. Executive officers 
also participate in the Groups employee incentive plan. Further details of key management personnel compensation 
are included in the Remuneration Report within the Directors’ Report. 

From time to time Directors of the Group, or their related entities, may purchase goods from the Group.  These 
purchases are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by the other Group employees or customers. 

Streamline Retail Pty Ltd (“Streamline”) is a company jointly owned by two members of key management personnel 
(Justin Cameron and Lex Pedersen each owning a 40% share), a Group employee and an external party.  The Group 
uses the services of Streamline to manage all technical requirements of its VRP software and to provide dedicated 
support resources that manage the helpdesk as well as providing ongoing software development.  The terms and 
conditions of the transactions with Streamline are based on normal market rates for such services and were due and 
payable under normal payment terms. 

The aggregate value of transactions and outstanding balances relating to Streamline are set out in the following table. 

 

In dollars
2016 2015

Short-term employee benefits 2,318,979      2,697,658      

Post-employment benefits 55,277           35,918           

Other long term benefits -                 -                 

Termination benefits 28,846           -                 

Share-based payments 937,364         186,063         

Total key management personnel compensation 3,340,466      2,919,639      

In dollars 2016 2015 2016 2015

Streamline Retail Pty Ltd 1,046,031      476,598         85,239           147,579         

Transaction value Balance outstanding



 

28. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 

 

In thousands of dollars

2016 2015
(*restated)

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the period (155,358)        (50,647)          

Adjustments for:
Amortisation 14,379           6,228             

Depreciation 1,835             684                

Equity-settled share-based payments 10,444           1,390             

Impairment expense 88,999           19,702           

Income tax benefit (495)               (3,583)            

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 17                  376                

Loss on disposal of intangible assets -                 1,334             

Realised foreign currency losses 259                -                 

Unrealised foreign currency gains/(losses) (54)                 10                  

Net finance income (53)                 (131)               

(40,027)          (24,637)          

Changes in:

Trade and other receivables (590)               5,712             

Inventories 14,303           5,214             

Other assets (1,665)            105                

Trade and other payables (3,355)            (5,996)            

Employee benefits 373                (542)               

Provisions 1,611             816                

Deferred income 164                383                

(29,186)          (18,945)          

Interest paid (318)               (7)                   

Income tax paid (907)               -                 

Net cash used in operating activities (30,411)          (18,952)          

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3. Further
detail is disclosed in note 5.  In addition, there is change in classification of assets, further detail of which is disclosed in note 14.



 

29. Auditors’ remuneration 

 

 

30. Deed of cross guarantee  
Pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) dated 13 August 1998, the wholly-owned subsidiaries listed 
below are relieved from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of financial 
reports, and Directors’ reports. 

It is a condition of the Class Order that the Company and each of the subsidiaries enter into a Deed of Cross 
Guarantee (the “Deed”).  The effect of the Deed is that the Company guarantees to each creditor payment in full of 
any debt in the event of winding up of any of the subsidiaries under certain provisions of the Corporations Act 2001.  
If a winding up occurs under other provisions of the Act, the Company will only be liable in the event that after six 
months any creditor has not been paid in full.  The subsidiaries have also given similar guarantees in the event that 
the Company is wound up. 

The holding entity of the Deed is SurfStitch Group Limited. 

The subsidiaries subject to the Deed, and the dates on which they entered into the Deed are: 

In dollars
2016 2015

Audit and review services
Auditors of the Company - KPMG
  Audit and review of financial statements 720,455         361,850         

Other auditors
  Audit and review of financial statements 31,246           6,666             

Other services
Auditors of the Company - KPMG 382,733         954,691         



 

30. Deed of cross guarantee (continued) 

A consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, comprising the Company and controlled 
entities which are a party to the Deed, after eliminating all transactions between parties to the Deed of Cross 
Guarantee, at 30 June is set out below. 

 

In thousands of dollars

2016 2015
(*restated)

Revenue 94,744           47,090           

Cost of sales (64,529)          (33,548)          

Gross profit 30,215           13,542           

Other income 4,238             25                  

Selling and distribution expenses (37,231)          (25,487)          

Administrative expenses (73,355)          (7,678)            

Impairment expense (100,508)        (19,702)          

Other expenses -                 (7,471)            

Finance income 2,515             807                

Finance costs (175)               (6)                   

Loss before tax (174,301)        (45,970)          

Income tax benefit 4,329             1,970             

Loss after tax (169,972)        (44,000)          

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax (1,655)            700                

Total comprehensive loss for the period, net of tax (171,627)        (43,300)          

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company (171,627)        (43,300)          

Loss for the period (171,627)        (43,300)          

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3. Further
detail is disclosed in note 5.



 

30. Deed of cross guarantee (continued) 

A consolidated statement of financial position, comprising the Company and controlled entities which are a party to 
the Deed, after eliminating all transactions between parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee, at 30 June is set out 
below. 

In thousands of dollars

2016 2015
(*restated)

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 15,347           35,197           

Trade and other receivables 2,811             461                

Inventories 12,065           11,063           

Current tax assets 24                  -                 

Other assets 2,858             865                

Total current assets 33,105           47,586           

Non-current assets

Related party receivables (net) -                 19,030           

Deferred tax assets (net) 5,583             (964)               

Property, plant and equipment 2,949             1,615             

Intangible assets 6,024             22,208           

Investment in subsidiaries 3,601             70,197           

Goodwill 6,609             8,436             

Total non-current assets 24,766           120,522         

Total assets 57,871           168,108         

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13,580           12,666           

Employee benefits 2,173             1,060             

Income tax provision 795                989                

Provisions 958                1,165             

Deferred income 568                278                

Total current liabilities 18,074           16,158           

Non-current liabilities

Employee benefits 293                123                

Provisions 880                -                 

Total non-current liabilities 1,173             123                

Total liabilities 19,247           16,281           

Net assets 38,624           151,827         

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3. Further
detail is disclosed in note 5.



 

30. Deed of cross guarantee (continued) 

 

Retained earnings has been calculated as set out in the following table. 

 

31. Parent entity disclosures 
Throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2016, the parent entity of the Group was SurfStitch Group Limited. 

 

In thousands of dollars

2016 2015
(*restated)

Equity

Share capital 309,090         248,325         

Reserves (56,476)          (52,498)          

Retained earnings (i) (213,990)        (44,000)          

Total equity 38,624           151,827         

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3. Further
detail is disclosed in note 5.

`

In thousands of dollars

2016 2015
(*restated)

Prior period retained earnings (44,000)          -                 
Adjustments for entities entering the deed (18)                 -                 
Current period loss after tax (169,972)        (44,000)          

Total retained earnings (213,990)        (44,000)          

* The above comparative information has been restated to reflect final business combination adjustments as required by AASB 3. Further
detail is disclosed in note 5.

In thousands of dollars
2016 2015

Loss for the period (247,519)        (27,210)          
Other comprehensive income -                 -                 

Total comprehensive loss for the period (247,519)        (27,210)          



 

31. Parent entity disclosures (continued) 

 

In thousands of dollars
2016 2015

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9,373             30,488           

Trade and other receivables -                 -                 

Related party receivables (net) -                 -                 

Inventories -                 -                 

Current tax assets -                 -                 

Other assets 273                54                  

Total current assets 9,646             30,542           

Non-current assets

Related party receivables (net) -                 64,123           

Deferred tax assets (net) 2,953             1,611             

Property, plant and equipment 317                -                 
Intangible assets 3                    11                  

Investment in subsidiaries 37,650           130,614         

Total non-current assets 40,923           196,359         

Total assets 50,569           226,901         

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 853                888                
Deferred income 39                  -                 

Total current liabilities 892                888                

Non-current liabilities

Employee benefits 2                    -                 
Provisions 880                -                 

Total non-current liabilities 882                -                 

Total liabilities 1,774             888                

Net assets 48,795           226,013         

Equity

Share capital 309,090         248,325         
Reserves 14,434           4,898             
Retained earnings (274,729)        (27,210)          

Total equity 48,795           226,013         



 

31. Parent entity disclosures (continued) 

The Directors confirm that the parent entity does not hold any contingent liabilities that require disclosure other than 
those disclosed in note 26. 

During the year the parent entity has not entered into any material contracts to purchase plant and equipment. 

The parent entity has entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with the effect that it guarantees debts in respect of 
certain subsidiaries.  Further details of the Deed of Cross Guarantee and the subsidiaries subject to the deed are 
disclosed in note 30. 

32. Subsequent events  
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors to affect significantly the 
operations or state of affairs of the Group in future financial years. 



Additional information required by the ASX Limited Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this report is set out 
below. 

Shareholdings (as at 18 August 2016) 

The number of shares held by substantial shareholders and their associates are set out below: 

 

Details about the Group’s ordinary shares are disclosed in note 19 to the financial statements. 

There are no options on issue.  

There are no voting rights attached to the rights or unlisted options.   

There are no redeemable preference shares on issue. 

There are no non-redeemable preference shares on issue. 

There are no redeemable convertible notes on issue.  

Shareholder
Number of 
ordinary 

shares held

UBS Group AG and its related bodies corporate 27,996,410    

Ausbil Investment Management Limited 24,738,684    

FIL Limited and associated entities 23,570,322    
Janchor Partners Limited 17,657,139    

Perpetual Limited and subsidiaries 20,002,183    



 

Shareholdings (as at 18 August 2016) (continued) 

 

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares is 703. 

There are no securities subject to voluntary escrow. 

There are no redeemable preference shares on issue. 

There are no redeemable convertible notes on issue. 

 

Securities Exchange 
The Company is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.  The Home exchange is Sydney. 

Other information 
SurfStitch Group Limited is incorporated and domiciled in Australia, is a publicly listed company limited by shares. 

On-market buy-back 
There is no current on-market buy-back. 

Category
Ordinary 
shares

Rights
Unlisted 
options

1 - 1,000 380                8                    -

1,001 - 5,000 832                9                    -

5,001 - 10,000 450                10                  -

10,001 - 100,000 880                26                  19                  

100,001 and over 163                11                  2                    

Total 2,705             64                  21                  



 

Twenty largest shareholders (as at 18 August 2016) 

 

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 60,999,613    22.05%
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 28,441,514    10.28%
National Nominees Limited 24,632,861    8.91%
RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited 18,413,210    6.66%
Justin Paul Towells Stone 11,225,983    4.06%
J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 10,612,071    3.84%
Argo Investments Limited 8,130,000      2.94%
Bond Street Custodians Limited 6,000,000      2.17%
Crown Financial Pty Ltd 5,558,200      2.01%
Online Brands Pty Limited 5,098,611      1.84%
Intrepic Investments Pty Ltd 4,725,788      1.71%
Lex Ward Pedersen 2,740,766      0.99%
Pacific Custodians Pty Limited 2,054,681      0.74%
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 1,998,319      0.72%
Pacific Custodians Pty Limited 1,600,000      0.58%
Zippin Pty Ltd 1,510,000      0.55%
Joseph Daniel Simms 1,455,280      0.53%
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited - A/c 2 1,360,295      0.49%
Mr Scott Anson Turner & Mrs Samantha Jane Turner 1,275,000      0.46%
Sam McIntosh 1,219,680      0.44%

Number of 
ordinary 

shares held

Percentage of 
capital held

Shareholder



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors.  

 

 

 

Samuel Weiss 
Chairman  

 

Sydney 

 

30 August 2016







 

Mrs Karen Birner 
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